IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2659

Florida Bar No. 184170

CYNTHIA CLEFF NORMAN, as ) Personal Representative of ) the Estate of WILLIAM CLEFF, ) deceased, )

Petitioner,

v.

TERRI LAMARRIA FARROW,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

) ) )

)

)

)

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS CYNTHIA CLEFF NORMAN, as Personal Representative of the Estate of WILLIAM CLEFF,

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

#### and

Linda H. Wade, Esquire SCHOFIELD & WADE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose out of a rear end automobile accident on December 8, 1998, when the Defendant/Petitioner, William Cleff, struck the rear of an automobile driven by the Plaintiff/ Respondent, Terri Farrow.

The case went to trial resulting in a finding that Defendant Cleff was 90% at fault, and the Plaintiff Farrow was 10% at fault.

After trial, the trial judge made numerous rulings which were the subject of a subsequent appeal as follows:

1. Rather than reducing the Verdict by the full amount of the PIP payments, the trial court reduced the amount of PIP set-off by the Plaintiff's 10% comparative negligence.

2. The trial court erred in not "setting off" the entire amount of PIP benefits paid or payable at the time the proposal of settlement was filed for purposes of deterining whether Appellee was entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to her Proposal for Settlement.

3. The trial court reduced the "judgment obtained," pursuant to the Proposal for Settlement, by the amount the plaintiff had paid for no-fault insurance, for one full year.

4. The trial court, in computing the "judgment obtained" included taxable costs.

5. The plaintiff had filed a Request for Admissions that the defendant was negligent, which was denied by the defendant. The defendant submitted evidence at trial that the plaintiff caused the accident by cutting in front of him and stopping, resulting in a finding that the defendant was 90% at fault, and the plaintiff was 10% at

fault. Despite this finding of the jury, the court awarded attorney's fees to the plaintiff, because the defendant failed to

-1-

admit the defendant was negligent.

An appeal was taken to the First District Court of Appeal, raising on appeal that these five rulings were erroneous. The First District held that the latter four rulings were not ripe for appellate review, since the amount of attorney's fees had not yet been determined, and an appeal can not be taken from an order on entitlement to attorney's fees. The First District dismissed the appeal on those four issues, without prejudice to appeal after the amount of attorney's fees have been determined and a Final Judgment entered.

On the first ruling, namely the amount of the PIP set-off, the First District held that the PIP set-off should be reduced by the plaintiff's comparative negligence, and therefore only applied a setoff for \$4,498.35, or 90% of the PIP payments, rather than \$4,998.17<sup>1</sup>, or 100% of the PIP payments.

The Defendant/Petitioner then filed a Petition for Discretionary Review to this Court. This Court accepted jurisdiction, and this Brief is being filed on the merits.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 8, 1998, an automobile accident occurred in

which Defendant, Cleff, struck the automobile driven by the

 $<sup>^1\,</sup>$  In the Opinion of the First District, by inadvertence two numbers were transposed. The Opinion of the First District states that the gross PIP setoff was \$4,989.17, and that number should be \$4,998.17.

Plaintiff, Farrow, from the rear. Cleff presented evidence and testimony that the plaintiff cut in front of him and stopped, not allowing him sufficient time to stop, thereby causing the accident. The testimony of Mr. Cleff was as follows:

- Q. Can you tell the jury what happened when you went out of University?
- A. Well, there was no cars coming, so I made the turn on University, made a right turn. And I was going north, and all of a sudden, this red car came alongside of me. I don't know where it came from. It came alongside, cut in front of me and stopped.
- Q. What happened when the red car stopped?
- A. Well, I put the brakes on. I stopped, I started stopping. I couldn't stop. If you know anything about these new cars, they have an anti-skid brake on them.
- Q. Okay. When this red car pulled in front of you and stopped, did it give you enough time to stop?
- A. No, she didn't.

(T Vol. III, pg. 321).

At the conclusion of the trial, the jury found the Defendant, Cleff, 90% negligent, and the Plaintiff, Farrow, 10% negligent.

The issue which is involved on this appeal occurred postverdict, on a Motion to Determine the Amount of Set-Off. The Verdict totalled \$19,647.71, and the PIP benefits were \$4,998.17, which was 80% of the medical bills submitted to the jury. However, the court, rather than applying a set-off for \$4,998.17, only applied a set-off for \$4,498.35. In other words, the trial court reduced the setoff by the 10%, which comprised the plaintiff's comparative negligence. The exact calculation is as follows:

#### FINAL JUDGMENT CALCULATIONS

The trial court calculated the final judgment by reducing the total jury verdict of \$19,647.71 by 10% (\$1,964.77) for Appellee's comparative negligence (R Vol. III, p. 431). The court then allowed a setoff for no fault benefits in the amount of \$4,498.35<sup>2</sup> (R Vol. III, p. 431).

#### Trial Court's Calculation of PIP Setoff for Final Judgment

The trial court, pursuant to § 57.041, then added taxable costs to the judgment in the amount of \$4,868.44, thereby resulting in a total judgment of \$18,053.03 (R Vol. III, pp. 431-432).

Trial Court's Calculation of Final Judgment

\$19,647.71 - 1,964.77	Total Jury Verdict less Appellee's 10% comparative negligence
\$17,692.94	
- 4,498.53	less PIP setoff allowed by trial court
\$13,184.59	
<u>+ 4,868.44</u>	plus Taxable Costs (pursuant to § 57.041,
	Fla. Stat.
\$18,053.03	FINAL JUDGMENT

It should be noted that only the calculation of the amount of the PIP setoff, is the subject of this appeal. An appeal was taken

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This amount equaled 80% of the bills submitted rather than the \$5,573.04 actually paid. This 80% amount was reduced based on the amount refunded to Chiropractor Renfroe and Appellee's 10% comparative negligence.

to the First District Court of Appeal, which construed the issue of whether there should be a PIP setoff for the full amount of PIP benefits received in the amount of \$4,998.17, or whether that amount should be reduced by the plaintiff's 10% comparative negligence, namely by \$499.82, to apply a PIP setoff of \$4,498.35.

The First District in its opinion discussed the fact that there was a conflict of Florida caselaw, as to whether there should be a deduction for all PIP benefits, or whether the setoff should be reduced by the percentage fault of the plaintiff.

The First District noted that the case of <u>Assi v. Florida Auto</u> <u>Auction of Orlando, Inc.</u>, 717 So. 2d 588 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), holds that the plaintiff is entitled to a set-off for all amounts of PIP paid or payable, regardless of comparative negligence. The court noted that on the other hand, the Fourth District case of <u>Aetna</u> <u>Casualty & Surety Co. v. Langel</u>, 587 So. 2d 1370 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) holds that PIP and MED PAY should be reduced by the plaintiff's percentage of comparative negligence.

The First District held that it agreed with <u>Langel</u> and disagreed with <u>Assi</u>, and held that the PIP set-off should be reduced by the plaintiff's percentage of comparative negligence.

The court's holding is as follows:

We agree with Langel, and do not agree with Assi. The set-off is dictated by the statutory language providing that the injured party shall have no right to recover any damages for which personal injury protection benefits are paid or payable. "The purpose of a set-off is to avoid duplication of benefits." Pate v. Renfore, 715 So.2d 1094, 1099 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The supreme court has explained

-5-

that the purpose of the prior statute allowing an insured the right to reimbursement of any payments made to an insured who subsequently recovered against a tortfeasor, "was to prevent injured plaintiffs from receiving double recovery." Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enters., Inc., 403 So.2d 1325, 1328 (Fla. 1981). Here, we are persuaded that the method utilized by the trial court avoided duplication of benefits to the The total jury award, which we must plaintiff. assume included medical and wage loss, those items provided by PIP insurance, was reduced by her own ten percent comparative negligence. Βv deduction then, the amount she recovered as medical payments, and lost wages was also reduced by ten percent. Stated otherwise, the jury's finding of ten percent comparative negligence has already given appellant a reduction, or set-off, for ten percent of the PIP. Therefore, the trial court's calculation, which reduced the set-off by ten percent of the PIP, completely avoided duplication of benefits, as dictated by the Legislature.

A Notice of Invoking Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed by the Defendant/Petitioner to this Honorable Court, and the Brief of Petitioner was filed, contending the opinion of the First District in the present case conflicts with the decision of the Fifth District in <u>Assi, supra, and Rollins v. Pizzarelli, infra</u>. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction, and this Brief is being filed on the merits.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The PIP set-off has been consistently applied in a routine manner for the last 27 years, and the decision of the First District in this case is a departure from this long-standing construction of the PIP statute by the trial and appellate courts.

The routine procedure for applying PIP set-offs, which is used in scores of trial court cases each year and has been for 27 years since 1976, is that the comparative negligence of the plaintiff is used to reduce the verdict, and then the <u>full amount</u> of PIP benefits is subtracted from this reduced verdict.

The First District held that, this traditional procedure which has been used for 27 years, is the wrong procedure. The First District held that after the comparative negligence reduction is applied to the verdict, the set-off for PIP benefits is only for the defendant's percentage of negligence. In other words, the plaintiff receives a double recovery of his percentage of negligence as applied to the PIP payments.

This is clearly contrary to the legislative intent of the PIP statute and must be reversed; and <u>Assi v. Florida Auto Auction</u>, <u>infra</u>, and <u>Rollins v. Pizzarelli</u>, <u>infra</u>, should be accepted as the law of Florida. The Fifth District in <u>Assi</u>, <u>supra</u>, correctly applied the PIP statute to provide a set-off for all amounts of PIP paid or payable. Furthermore, the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Rollins v.</u> <u>Pizzarelli</u>, <u>infra</u>, clearly held that all PIP benefits paid or payable are set-off.

The intent of the legislature in passing the PIP statute, and

-7-

the way it was designed, was to avoid litigation for small claims up to \$10,000. A party would quickly be paid his medical bills and lost wages of up to \$10,000 by PIP benefits without regard to fault, and litigation would be unnecessary.

Clearly, nothing in the No-Fault Statute evidences an intent to apply a concept of fault, or comparative fault, to PIP benefits, nor an intent to reward a party who files suit to recover PIP benefits.

Furthermore, the exact language of the PIP statute provides that all PIP benefits received will be set-off. What the First District did, most respectfully, was to ignore the clear wording of the PIP statute, and instead "legislated" a holding rather than follow the clear intent of the legislature.

Therefore, this interpretation by the First District is contrary to the express intent of the PIP statute, by putting a concept of comparative fault into the PIP statute, and by rewarding a party who files suit by being able to recoup some of the PIP payments from the opposing party.

Further, the intent of the legislature in passing the 1976 version of the PIP statute, was to avoid the plaintiff's receiving a double recovery of medical bills. It was determined that under the earlier procedure, prior to the collateral source statutes, there was an incentive for parties to have unnecessary and extensive medical treatment, and to have inflated medical bills and other economic benefit payments, since they would receive a double recovery on these payments from the tortfeasor. The greater the medical payments or other economic benefit payments, the greater the plaintiff would

-8-

benefit by way of a double recovery.

The history of this section of the No-Fault Statute clearly shows that the intent of the legislature was that 100% of the PIP benefits would be set-off from the judgment. The first version of this section, when the No-Fault Statute was first passed in 1971, did not provide a set-off. Instead, it provided that after the plaintiff recovered a judgment against the tortfeasor, his PIP carrier would file a motion for equitable distribution, and the trial court would determine how much the PIP carrier would recoup, taking into account the costs and attorneys' fees expended by the plaintiff to recover the judgment. This procedure was adopted from the procedure in workers' compensation.

However, there was such extensive litigation to determine the equitable distribution of the PIP benefits of \$10,000 or less, that in 1976 the legislature decided to change this portion of the statute. In the four years the 1971 provision was in effect, there were at least 31 appellate decisions addressing the issue of equitable distribution, and this gives an indication of the massive volume of trial court litigation.

Therefore, when the legislature decided to change this provision in 1976, the preliminary version of the statute provided that after the plaintiff settled with the tortfeasor, that he would repay the PIP benefits to his own PIP carrier. The legislative history has been filed with this Court and the relevant excerpts are quoted in this Brief. When the amendment was passed, the final version provided that the PIP carrier would not recover this amount

-9-

back, but rather the amount of PIP benefits received would be set-off from the judgment against the tortfeasor. The theory was that since the tortfeasor's insurance carrier would benefit from this procedure, all automobile insurance carriers would benefit, and additionally would benefit from the fact that no attorneys' fees were necessary. This procedure eventually would benefit the public by its impact on premiums.

In summary, this decision by the First District defeats the intent of the No-Fault Statute, which is that small claims under \$10,000 will be paid quickly without regard to fault, and that PIP payments will be deducted from the tort settlement. This holding also defeats the purpose of the PIP statute, of preventing a double recovery for medical and economic benefits, and therefore creates a motivation for a plaintiff to unnecessarily extend or inflate medical or other economic benefits, in order to achieve a double recovery. Under the ruling of the First District a party is rewarded for filing suit against a tortfeasor, by being able to have a double recovery of the plaintiff's own percentage of fault as applied to the PIP benefits. The plaintiff benefits from this double recovery, because the PIP benefits have been paid to him without regard to fault, but he is now able to recover from the tortfeasor some percentage of these PIP benefits.

-10-

#### ARGUMENT

THE FOURTH DISTRICT'S DECISION IN <u>ASSI</u>, AND THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN <u>PIZZARELLI</u>, CORRECTLY CONSTRUED THE LAW OF FLORIDA TO PROVIDE THAT THERE WILL BE A SET-OFF FOR ALL PIP BENEFITS PAID OR PAYABLE.

## Standard of Review

Since this case is on review on discretionary jurisdiction, the Standard of Review is whether there is express and direct conflict between the opinion in the present case, and the holding in other appellate cases. <u>Dodi Publishing Company v. Editorial America, S.A.</u>, 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980). It is respectfully submitted that there clearly is express and direct conflict between the opinion in the present case, and the Fourth District's opinion in <u>Langel</u>, <u>supra</u>.

#### Purpose of No-Fault Law

The purpose of the no-fault law was to avoid litigation in small claims, which would be paid quickly, by way of payment for medical bills and lost wages up to \$10,000 in PIP benefits. In the last 27 years, the routine procedure for calculating a Final Judgment after jury verdict, is that all of the PIP benefits paid or payable are set-off from the verdict. The way the Florida No-Fault Statute was written, is that a party recovers PIP benefits without regard to fault, but then can not recover from the tortfeasor any amount he was paid for PIP benefits. The purpose of the no-fault law was to take the determination of fault out of automobile accidents, to the extent of the first \$10,000 of recovery.

-11-

## Traditional Application of PIP Set-Off v. Application Under First District's Holding

Pursuant to the ruling of the First District, a party will obtain a windfall by filing suit, in that he will be able to recoup some percentage of the PIP benefits he received, namely the percentage of his comparative negligence as applied to the PIP benefits.

An example of how this would operate, would be the situation where a plaintiff has been paid \$10,000 by PIP, and obtains a verdict for \$25,000, and the jury finds that the plaintiff was 50% negligent. Under the routine procedure, which has been used for computing verdicts, and is used scores of times each year across the state, the 50% comparative negligence is applied to the \$25,000 verdict to yield \$12,500. The \$10,000 PIP set-off is then subtracted from the \$12,500 to yield a net verdict of \$2,500. Therefore, the plaintiff has recovered a total of 50% of his damages, namely \$2,500 from the tortfeasor plus \$10,000 from the PIP carrier, for a total of \$12,500. Therefore, this traditional procedure meshes perfectly with comparative negligence.

The application of the decision of the First District in this case would yield a recovery substantially different. After the 50% comparative negligence is applied to the \$25,000, this would yield \$12,500. Thereafter, the PIP collateral source set-off would only be \$5,000 (50% of \$10,000), to yield a judgment of \$7,500. Therefore, instead of recovering 50% of his damages, the plaintiff has recovered 70% of his damages (\$7,500 from the tortfeasor, plus \$10,000 from the

-12-

PIP carrier) for a total of \$17,500.

Clearly, nothing in the no-fault statute evidences an intent to apply a concept of fault, or comparative fault, to PIP benefits, nor an intent to reward a party who files suit to recover PIP benefits. In fact, this is the opposite of the purpose of the no-fault statute: 1) to avoid discussion of fault as to PIP benefits; 2) to facilitate speedy payment of up to \$10,000, in economic damages, regardless of fault; and 3) to avoid litigation. But, if a plaintiff files suit, he cannot recover from the tortfeasor any of the PIP benefits he received, thus avoiding a windfall.

## <u>A Windfall</u>

The decision of the First District results in a windfall to the plaintiff. PIP payments are paid to the plaintiff without regard to fault. In other words, even though in the previous example the plaintiff was 50% at fault, nevertheless he recovered his economic losses through PIP recovery, without regard to fault. However, if he files suit against the tortfeasor, the plaintiff is rewarded for filing suit, since he can recover from the tortfeasor his percentage of comparative fault as applied to the PIP benefits, for a double recovery.

## <u>Assi and Pizzarelli</u>

The decision by the First District in this case is in express and direct conflict with <u>Assi</u> and <u>Pizzarelli</u>. In <u>Assi</u>, the Fifth District construed this statute, and held there was a set-off for all

-13-

PIP benefits received. Similarly, the Florida Supreme Court interpreted this provision, namely § 627.736(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1996), and held that all PIP benefits which are "paid or payable" are set-off from the judgment. <u>Rollins v. Pizzarelli</u>, 761 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2000). The issue on review in the Florida Supreme Court was whether PIP benefits which were to be paid in the future should be set-off from a verdict, or whether only PIP benefits which had been paid at the time of trial, should be set-off. The Florida Supreme Court held that there should be a set-off by all of the PIP benefits that are paid or owed by the PIP carrier at the time of trial. It is noteworthy that the Supreme Court made clear in its opinion that there is a set-off for all PIP benefits paid or payable, and nowhere states there is only a set-off reflecting the defendant's percentage of negligence, as applied to PIP benefits paid or payable.

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