IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.:Sc02-2659 DCA Case No.: 1D01-4606 Florida Bar No.: 508942 CYNTHIA CLEFF NORMAN, as ) Personal Representative ) of the Estate of WILLIAM ) CLEFF, deceased, ) ) Petitioner, ) v. ) ) TERRI LAMARRIA FARROW, ) ) Respondent. ) )

> ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS TERRI LAMARRIA FARROW

> Daniel M. Soloway, Esq. Florida Bar Number: 508942 Robert T. Bleach, Esq. Florida Bar Number: 089095 Daniel M. Soloway, P.A. 901 Scenic Highway Pensacola, Florida 32503 850-435-0555 (T) 850-435-8885 (F)

#

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District correctly held that Defendant's<sup>1</sup> PIP setoff under Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) should be reduced by the percentage of Plaintiff's comparative negligence. Therefore, its decision should be affirmed.

The undisputed purpose of the PIP setoff under Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) is to prevent plaintiffs from receiving a double recovery. Plaintiff did not receive a double recovery of any benefits in the instant case. Defendant received a 10% reduction in Plaintiff's total damages award due to a reduction for Plaintiff's comparative fault, and a further setoff for 90% of the PIP benefits which were paid or payable. This resulted in a 100% setoff for PIP benefits paid or payable to Plaintiff.

Both the plain meaning and legislative intent of Fla.Stat. §627.736 support the lower court's decision. Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) clearly states that the jury is to hear evidence of PIP benefits paid or payable, and is not to award Plaintiff damages for which benefits have been paid. The jury's reduction of the plaintiff's damages award under this provision takes place prior to the court's reduction of the award due to the plaintiff's comparative fault. While the parties in this case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The terms "Plaintiff" and "Defendant" will be used to describe the parties throughout this brief for the sake of clarity.

allowed the court, and not the jury, to apply the PIP setoff, the court's reduction of the PIP setoff by the amount of Plaintiff's comparative fault resulted in the same judgment which would have been rendered had the jury made the reduction before comparative fault was applied. Therefore, the lower court's ruling was in accordance with the plain meaning of the statute.

The lower court's ruling also followed the legislative intent of the statute. The intent of Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) is to prevent Plaintiff from receiving a double recovery, not to provide a windfall for the tortfeasor. When a plaintiff's award is reduced for comparative negligence, she is already precluded from recovering a portion of her damages, some of which were paid for by PIP benefits. Therefore, any PIP setoff to which a tortfeasor is entitled should be reduced to reflect the amount already subsumed in the reduction for the plaintiff's comparative fault. To hold otherwise would give the tortfeasor a double setoff.

For purposes of calculating a PIP setoff, the degree of fault of all parties must be considered. For example, if two defendants are actively negligent and are not jointly and severally liable for the plaintiff's economic damages, the PIP setoff must be divided among them. It stands to reason that this

division would be based on their percentage of fault, resulting in defendants only receiving the percentage of the PIP setoff caused by their own negligence. Accordingly, when a Plaintiff receives PIP benefits due to injuries which were caused in part by her own negligence, the defendants should not receive a setoff for that portion of benefits paid. "No-Fault" does not mean "no apportionment of fault" for purposes of calculating a PIP setoff.

Defendant argues that Fla.Stat. §627.737(1) requires that he be allowed a PIP setoff without regard to fault. However, the "exemption" from liability for certain damages found in this section only applies in the absence of a permanent injury. Plaintiff suffered a permanent injury, making this section inapplicable. In any event, this section provides no greater a setoff than that found in Fla.Stat. §627.736(3).

The district court in the instant case chose to follow the Fourth District's opinion in Aetna Cas. & Surety Co v. Langel, infra over the Fifth District's opinion in Assi v. Florida Auto Auction, infra. The Langel opinion was a logical extension of this Court's precedents, while the Assi opinion cited as support a case from this Court involving neither no-fault benefits nor comparative fault.

The decision of the First District in the instant case

# should

be affirmed. Tortfeasors are only entitled to a PIP setoff based on their pro rata share of fault.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT IN THE PRESENT CASE CORRECTLY HOLDS THAT Δ TORTFEASOR RECEIVES A SET-OFF ONLY FOR THAT PERCENTAGE OF NO-FAULT BENEFITS PAID TO AN PLAINTIFF PURSUANT INJURED то FL.STAT. §627.736 DUE TO INJURIES CAUSED BY THE TORTFEASOR'S NEGLIGENCE

## I. <u>Standard of Review</u>

This sole issue in this appeal is a question of statutory interpretation, a pure question of law. Therefore, the standard of review is *de novo*. *See Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So.2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000).

# II. The trial and district courts' rulings that Defendant's PIP setoff should be reduced by the percentage of Plaintiff's comparative negligence do not provide Plaintiff with a double recovery

Florida's no-fault insurance system requires that no-fault insurers pay certain medical and disability benefits to a driver involved in an automobile accident, regardless of whether that driver was partially or completely at fault for the accident. See Fla.Stat. §§627.730-627.7405. This system presumes that insurers will pay no-fault benefits for damages caused by the driver's own negligence. The no-fault system also provides that when a driver sues another for injuries sustained in an automobile accident, that driver is not entitled to recover any damages for which no-fault benefits were paid or are payable.

Fla.Stat. §627.736(3). The purpose of this provision is to prevent a Plaintiff from receiving a double recovery. *See Purdy v. Gulf Breeze Enterprises, Inc.*, 403 So.2d 1325, 1329 (Fla. 1981).

In the instant case, the First DCA correctly held that because 10% of Plaintiff's no-fault benefits were paid due to her own comparative fault, for which Plaintiff would receive no recovery, Defendant's PIP setoff should be only 90% of the total amount of PIP benefits paid. See Norman ex rel. Estate of Cleff v. Farrow, 832 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). This decision perfectly follows both the plain language and intent of the PIP statute, in that Plaintiff did not recover from Defendant any damages for which PIP benefits were paid or payable.

Defendant received a setoff for 90% of the PIP benefits paid as an explicit PIP setoff. The remaining 10% of the PIP benefits paid were subsumed in the court's reduction of the jury's verdict pursuant to the finding Plaintiff's 10% comparative fault. Therefore, the court's reduction of the verdict by Plaintiff's 10% comparative fault, coupled with the setoff for 90% of all PIP benefits paid, ensured that Plaintiff did not recover any damages for which personal injury protection benefits were paid or payable. Both the plain meaning and intent of Fla.Stat. §627.736 were met by the trial and district courts'

rulings.

# III. <u>"No-Fault" does not mean "no apportionment of fault" for</u> purposes of calculating a PIP setoff

The fundamental misconception at the heart of Defendant's argument is the presumption that "no fault" benefits allow for no apportionment of fault for purposes of calculating the setoff to which a defendant is entitled. In reality, the "no fault" concept applies only to the payment of benefits by the insurer to the insured, not to the application of a setoff for these benefits in a liability case. This is made clear when one considers how the setoff would be applied in a case involving two active tortfeasors (such as a three-car collision). Assuming that the two defendants are not jointly and severally liable for the plaintiff's economic damages,<sup>2</sup> the court must apportion the PIP setoff among the parties. The only logical distribution of the setoff would be based upon each party's percentage of fault. When two active tortfeasors are involved in an automobile accident, apportionment of the PIP setoff may be a necessity. If apportionment of the PIP setoff among defendants is appropriate, it must follow that when a Plaintiff is partially at fault for her own injuries, part of the PIP setoff should be apportioned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Under Fla.Stat. §768.81 (3)(c), defendants who are assigned a lower percentage of fault than the plaintiff are not jointly and severally liable for the plaintiff's economic damages.

to her, as well. Therefore, Defendant is entitled to a PIP setoff only for that percentage of PIP benefits paid due to his own negligence. The First District correctly reduced Defendant's PIP setoff to 90% of all PIP benefits paid, because only 90% of these benefits were paid due to Defendant's negligence. The other 10% were paid due to Plaintiff's negligence, and Plaintiff would not recover these benefits either.

# IV. <u>The District Court's ruling is in accordance with the</u> <u>legislative intent of Fla.Stat. §627.736</u>

Defendant claims that the District Court's reduction of the PIP setoff by the percentage of Plaintiff's comparative fault was contrary to legislative intent. The plain language of the PIP statute contradicts this, and the legislative history of the statute, coupled with the way the PIP statute fits into the framework of other statutes dealing with damages, demonstrates that the District Court acted properly. The legislative intent behind Fla.Stat. §627.736 can be divined from both its plain language and legislative history. "[W]hen the statutory language is clear, legislative history cannot be used to alter the plain meaning of the statute. However, when the statutory language is susceptible to more than one meaning, legislative history may be helpful in ascertaining legislative intent." *Rollins v. Pizzarelli*, 761 So.2d 294, 299 (Fla. 2000) (citations omitted).

Both the plain language of the PIP statute and its legislative history support the District Court's ruling.

# A. The plain language of Fla.Stat. §627.736 supports the District Court's ruling

The plain language of Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) states as

follows:

(3) Insured's rights to recovery of special damages in tort claims. -- No insurer shall have a lien on any recovery in tort by judgment, settlement, or otherwise for personal injury protection benefits, whether suit has been filed or settlement has been reached without suit. An injured party who is entitled to bring suit under the provisions of ss. 627.730-627.7405, or his or her legal representative, shall have no right to recover any damages for which personal injury protection benefits are paid or payable. The plaintiff all of his or her special may prove damages notwithstanding this limitation, but if special damages are introduced in evidence, the trier of facts, whether judge or jury, shall not award damages for personal injury protection benefits paid or payable. In all cases in which a jury is required to fix damages, the court shall instruct the jury that the plaintiff shall not recover such special damages for personal injury protection benefits paid or payable.

(emphasis added). The statute clearly states that the jury<sup>3</sup> is to hear evidence of all the plaintiff's special damages, but that it is not to award damages for which PIP benefits are paid or payable. The clear intention of this provision is to have the jury apply the PIP setoff by reducing its damages award by the

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  Or the judge, if it is a bench trial.

amount of PIP benefits paid or payable.<sup>4</sup> The jury's determination of the total amount of damages takes place prior to the court applying the jury's apportionment of fault among the plaintiff and defendant(s).<sup>5</sup> Therefore, the plain meaning of the statute envisions the jury applying a PIP setoff to the total damages award *prior* to the court reducing the award by plaintiff's comparative fault. This is the mathematical equivalent of what the trial court and First District did in the instant case, as demonstrated by the examples below:

**Common Facts:** Fault is apportioned at Plaintiff-20%/Defendant-80%, Plaintiff has \$15,000.00 in medical specials, and has received \$10,000.00 in PIP benefits.

**Ex. 1 (what the trial court did in the instant case)**- The jury makes no reduction in its verdict for PIP benefits received by Plaintiff, but the trial court reduces Defendant's PIP setoff by the amount of Plaintiff's comparative negligence:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Court has accepted *certiorari* review of *Caruso* v. *Baumle*, SC03-127, which specifically addresses the issue of whether a Defendant must present evidence at trial of PIP payments made in order to be awarded a set-off.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Pursuant to Fla.Stat. §768.81(3), the court is to determine the apportionment of damages at the time judgment is entered. This takes place after the jury fills out the total amount of damages on the verdict form, reduced by PIP benefits received.

\$15,000.00 (total damages)

-\$ 3,000.00 (Plaintiff's 20% comparative fault)

-\$ 8,000.00 (\$10,000 PIP - 20% comparative fault)

=\$ 4,000.00 (Judgment for Plaintiff)

**Ex. 2 (what the legislature intended)** - The jury reduces the verdict by the amount of PIP benefits Plaintiff received:

\$5,000.00 (total damages - PIP benefits paid)

-\$1,000.00 (Plaintiff's 20% comparative fault)

=\$ 4,000.00 (Judgment for Plaintiff)

It is apparent that the result achieved by applying the plain language of the statute is the same as that achieved by the trial and district courts' method in the instant case. Both methods of achieving this result reduce the PIP setoff by the amount of the Plaintiff's comparative fault. Therefore, the plain language of the statute supports the First DCA's ruling.

In the instant case (and undoubtably in most other automobile accident cases accruing in Florida after October 1, 1993), the jury was not instructed to reduce its award by the amount of PIP benefits Plaintiff received. This common occurrence can likely be explained by an anomaly in the Florida Standard Jury Instructions for Civil Cases.<sup>6</sup> Prior to the October

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Hereafter referred to as "Standard Jury Instructions."

16, 1997 amendment to the Florida Standard Jury Instructions, Standard Instruction 6.13 stated that juries were to reduce a Plaintiff's damages awards by the amount of PIP benefits received.<sup>7</sup> See Fla. Std. Jury Inst. 6.13b. However, after the repeal of Fla.Stat. 627.7372 (effective for all cases accruing after October 1, 1993), the authors<sup>8</sup> of the Florida Standard Jury Instructions erroneously concluded that PIP setoffs were to be applied by the court, not the jury, under the general collateral source statute, Fla.Stat. §768.76. See Fla. Std. Jury Inst. 6.13a and 6.13b. The authors apparently overlooked the language in Fla.Stat. §627.736(3) which requires that such a reduction be done by the jury.<sup>9</sup> In Sheffield v. Superior Ins. Co., 800 So.2d 197, 200 n.3 (Fla. 2001), this Court noted that Fla.Stat.

<sup>8</sup> The Supreme Court Committee on Standard Jury Instructions.

<sup>9</sup>These instructions were approved by this Court in Standard Jury Instructions - Civil Cases,6.13-Collateral Source Rule, 700 So.2d 377 (Fla. Oct. 16, 1997). However, as this Court always notes in its approval of Standard Jury Instructions, "In doing so we express no opinion on the correctness of these instructions[.]"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This jury instruction directly contradicts Defendant's unsupported assertion that the ruling in the instant case is contrary to the "routine manner" in which the PIP setoff has been "consistently applied" for the "last 27 years." (Appellant's Initial Brief, p.7). At least until October 16, 1997, the PIP setoff was consistently reduced by the amount of the plaintiff's comparative fault, as further explained later in this section.

§627.736(3) (jury reduction), and not Fla.Stat. §768.76 (judge reduction), applies to any reductions made for PIP benefits.

Had the trial court in the instant case not reduced the PIP setoff by Plaintiff's comparative fault, the outcome of the case would have given Defendant a windfall which he would not have received had the jury been instructed to apply the PIP setoff. This windfall can be demonstrated by a third example, using the same set of facts from the two prior examples:

Ex. 3 (demonstrates windfall to Defendant if the trial court does not reduce the PIP setoff by Plaintiff's comparative fault) - the jury makes no reduction for PIP, and the trial court does not reduce the PIP setoff by Plaintiff's comparative fault:

\$15,000.00 (total damages)

-\$ 3,000.00 (Plaintiff's 20% comparative fault)

-\$ 10,000.00 (\$10,000 PIP, not reduced by comparative fault)

=\$ 2,000.00 (Judgment for Plaintiff)

Instead of Plaintiff being awarded \$4,000.00, as the legislature intended,<sup>10</sup> Plaintiff is only awarded \$2,000.00, giving Defendant a \$2,000.00 windfall.

The plain language of Fla.Stat. §627.736 requires that the

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